

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Spiritual Care Visits During Palliative Care Predicting Discharge Location

Saundra Denise Casey Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Saundra Casey

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Jennifer Rounds-Bryant, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Patti Barrows, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. John Agnew, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Spiritual Care Visits During Palliative Care Predicting Discharge Location

by

Saundra Casey

MA, Olivet Nazarene University

BA, Roosevelt University

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Psychology

Walden University

March 2023

Abstract

Spiritual care has an important role in the caring of terminally ill patients and their families. However, there is little research demonstrating the relationship between spiritual care in palliative settings and discharge location of terminally ill patients. This study addressed spiritual care as a part of the palliative care services. A total of 186 records were reviewed from the spiritual care department at a hospital in Michigan. Kirkpatrick and Shaver's attachment theory was used to evaluate the relationship between palliative care and discharge location. The research questions addressed the relationship between spiritual care visits, gender, age, religion, primary diagnosis, and race and palliative discharge location. Key findings indicated patients who received spiritual care visits were 71.5% less likely to be discharged to a nursing home compared to those who did not receive spiritual care visits (OR = .285; p < .001). This shows a significance difference in spiritual care visits of those patients discharged home instead of to the nursing home setting. However, gender and age were not significant in this study. The multivariate regression indicated that spiritual care, race, and caregiver availability remained significantly associated however primary diagnosis and religion did not. These findings can lead to positive social change by informing health care workers about the importance of spiritual care for palliative care patients. This may result in health care workers becoming greater advocates for spiritual care services for palliative care patients.

Spiritual Care Visits During Palliative Care Predicting Discharge Location

by

Saundra Casey

MA, Olivet Nazarene University

BA, Roosevelt University

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Psychology

Walden University

March 2023

Acknowledgments

I am grateful for all those who have played a part in helping me to achieve greater goals for myself through academic learning. I acknowledge my chairperson, Dr. Jennifer Rounds-Bryant for her guidance and support through this long process. I give many thanks to God and my children, Duane, DeWitt, Dion, Darnell, and Deonna Casey, for your ongoing love and support on this journey. Lastly, I am thankful for Patricia Palmer and her assistance with the data analysis of this project.

| List of Tables | iv |
|---|----|
| Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study | 1 |
| Background | 2 |
| Problem Statement | 3 |
| Purpose | 4 |
| Research Questions | 5 |
| Theoretical Framework | 6 |
| Nature of the Study | 7 |
| Definitions | 8 |
| Assumptions | 8 |
| Limitations of the Study | 9 |
| Scope and Delimitations | 9 |
| Significance | 10 |
| Summary | 10 |
| Chapter 2: Literature Review | 11 |
| Literature Search Strategy | 11 |
| Theoretical Framework | 12 |
| Classical Attachment Theory | |
| Religion & Attachment Theory | |
| Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variables | 15 |
| Hospice Care | |

Table of Contents

| Palliative Care in the United States | |
|--------------------------------------|----|
| Psychosocial Care | |
| Palliative Care Patients | |
| Summary | 24 |
| Chapter 3: Research Method | |
| Research Design | |
| Methodology | 27 |
| Population and Sample | |
| Setting | |
| Data Collection Method | |
| Data Analysis Plan | |
| Threats to Validity | |
| Ethical Procedures | |
| Summary | |
| Chapter 4: Results | 31 |
| Data Collection | |
| Demographics | 31 |
| Research Question 1 | |
| Research Question 2 | |
| Research Question 3 | |
| Research Question 4 | |
| Research Question 5 | |

| Summary | 45 |
|---|----|
| Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations | 46 |
| Interpretation of the Findings | 47 |
| Spiritual Care | 47 |
| Gender | |
| Age | 49 |
| Religion | 50 |
| Primary Diagnosis | 50 |
| Race | |
| Limitations of the Study | 53 |
| Recommendations | 54 |
| Recommendations for Future Research | 54 |
| Recommendations for Practice | 55 |
| Recommendations for Policy | 57 |
| Conclusions | 58 |
| References | 59 |

List of Tables

| Table 1. Frequencies and Percentages of Demographic Characteristics (N=186) |
|---|
| Table 2. Cross Tabulation Between Discharge Location and Spiritual Care 35 |
| Table 3. Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Spiritual Care 355 |
| Table 4. Discharge Location and Gender |
| Table 5. Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Gender |
| Table 6. Cross Tabulation between Discharge Location and Patients' Age |
| Table 7. Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Patients' Age |
| Table 8. Cross-Tabulation Between Discharge Location and Religion |
| Table 9. Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Patients' Religion 39 |
| Table 10. Cross-Tabulation between Discharge Location and Patients' Primary Diagnosis |
| |
| Table 11. Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Patients' Diagnosis 412 |
| Table 12. Cross Tabulation Between Discharge Location and Patients' Race |
| Table 13. Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Patients' Race 42 |
| Table 14. Variation in Equation |

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Spiritual care has been important for terminally ill patients, providing supportive roles including listening, praying, and offering rituals for patients (Darren et al., 2018). But often focusing primarily on the supportive role, spiritual care has resulted in a lack of productivity in documentation and opportunities to provide practical care within the palliative care setting (Kearney et al., 2017). Regardless, older hospitalized adults should receive services tailored to their spiritual values and should be included as a treatment option when caring for terminally ill patients (National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization, 2014). Spiritual care has been beneficial for patients' well-being in palliative care when it is included in all aspects of the plan of care. Spiritual care workers are trained to provide assessments for the needs of those facing difficulties with terminal illness and crisis (Bruera & Yennurajalingam, 2012).

This study was designed to address the interest of spiritual care when it is included in the process of treatment planning and clinical decisions including discharge planning and location. Hospitals often discharge patients with insufficient planning, poor instruction, inadequate information, and a lack of coordination among the health care team members (Lin et al., 2012). By identifying the number of spiritual care assessments or visits and patients' decisions of their discharge location, I determined the potential effectiveness of spiritual care in the promotion of positive outcomes for palliative care patients. Findings from this study may result in positive social change if providers include spiritual care as a holistic component of palliative care. When spiritual care is part of the interdisciplinary process, there is an opportunity to provide improved quality of care to patients and their families (Darren et al., 2018).

Background

An individual's spirituality may help with coping during their terminal illness. Studies show a positive correlation with spirituality and improved immune functions, positive coping, and quality of life in terminally ill patients (Kang, 2018). Additionally, many palliative care patients report that feelings of spiritual support are valuable for connecting to others and maintaining control in their lives (Rego & Nunes, 2016). Some terminally ill patients experiencing physical and financial distress may be able to address important issues to their care when spiritual pain is included in the initial assessment (Vallurupalli et al., 2012).

Though spiritual care has helped patients understand their illness and health care needs, research indicates that health care providers often miss addressing patients' spiritual needs at end-of-life care (Varllurupalli et al., 2012). Additionally, spiritual care is often excluded in the psychosocial assessment, which includes palliative care questions regarding social supports, cultural background information, screening for psychiatric illnesses, and social needs such as financial and related living distresses (Vallurupalli et al., 2012). Unmet spiritual needs tend to be associated with less quality of life, increased hospitalizations, and greater health care costs among terminally ill cancer patients. Spiritual pain has been significantly positively correlated with both physical and psychological symptoms of the illness factors (Delgado-Guay et al., 2016), suggesting

that there is a relationship among spiritual and physical and psychological distresses for patients with terminal illness.

Further, research shows that older patients seek to express their spiritual care needs or need for comfort care during times of discharge planning (Hodge et al., 2014). Spiritual care data are needed to better describe spirituality for patients in supporting the patient perspective of the role which spiritual care plays in their illness and discharge process. This study addressed this gap in research which is to address the intent of spiritual care visits when it is included in the process of treatment planning and clinical decisions at the time of discharge.

Problem Statement

Research indicates the importance of discharge location relative to palliative care outcomes (Hodge et al., 2014). For example, Flannelly et al. (2012) collected data for 1 year on 517 patients with terminal illness in a hospital setting and found that patients who received palliative and spiritual care interventions experienced lower readmissions and desire to seek further traditional medical care services in the hospital. Flannelly et al. also reviewed the total number of advanced cancer patients' deaths for 5 years in the hospital setting; when the palliative care team provided care, there was an increase from 1% to 35% in patients who declined further aggressive treatments, and those who discharged from hospital to hospice lived longer than those remaining in the hospital. Lastly, Flannelly et al. researched 339 advanced cancer patients' discharge location from the hospital, which revealed that those who did not receive adequate support from palliative

care teams were likely to receive a week or more of hospice care and die in an intensive care unit.

Additional research indicates the impact of spiritual care on palliative care patient outcomes. For example, Balboni et al. (2013) performed a study of 343 patients with advanced cancer. Patients who received support from their community spiritual clergy were less likely to discharge from the hospital setting and more likely to pursue aggressive treatments. Patients who received spiritual care from palliative care hospital clergy were more likely to utilize discharge programs and less likely to pursue aggressive treatments.

Limited research suggests that spiritual care impacts discharge location decisions for terminally ill patients. More research is needed to establish a clear relationship between spiritual care and discharge location for terminally ill patients, which this study addressed. Positive social change may result from the information from this study being used to help inform spiritual care practices in palliative care settings.

Purpose

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between spiritual care during palliative care and discharge location. The number of spiritual care visits was the independent variable, and the discharge location was the dependent variable. Regression analysis was used to determine whether the independent variable predicts the dependent variable. Establishing additional empirical evidence of this relationship informs spiritual care practices in palliative care settings.

Research Questions

RQ 1: To what extent is there a relationship between spiritual care visits and palliative discharge location?

H₀1: There is no relationship between spiritual care visits and palliative discharge location?

H₁1: There is a relationship between spiritual care visits and palliative discharge location?

RQ 2: To what extent is there a relationship between patients' gender and palliative discharge location?

H₀2: There is no relationship between patients' gender and palliative discharge location?

H₁2: There is a relationship between patients' gender and palliative discharge location?

RQ 3: To what extent is there a relationship between patients' age and palliative discharge location?

 H_03 : There is no relationship between patients' age and palliative discharge location?

H₁3: There is a relationship between patients' age and palliative discharge location?

RQ 4: To what extent is there a relationship between patients' religion and palliative discharge location?

H₀4: There is no relationship between patients' religion and palliative discharge location?

H₁4: There is a relationship between patients' religion and palliative discharge location?

RQ 5: To what extent is there a relationship between patients' primary diagnosis and palliative discharge location?

H₀5: There is no relationship between patients' primary diagnosis and palliative discharge location?

H₁5: There is a relationship between patients' primary diagnosis and palliative discharge location?

RQ 6: To what extent is there a relationship between patients' race and palliative care predicting discharge location?

 H_06 : There is no relationship between patients' race and palliative care predicting discharge location.

H₁6: There is a relationship between patients' race and palliative care predicting discharge location.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for this study was attachment theory described by Kirkpatrick and Shaver (2013), which substituted the relationship of a parent–child relationship with a relationship with God. Their research showed that those with a secure attachment to God had significantly better mental and physical health outcomes (Kirkpatrick & Shaver, 2013). Similarly, patients who feel secure in their relationship with God may transfer their spiritual perspectives toward their spiritual care professionals to develop a relationship of trust like the relationship with God. Patients who acknowledge their beliefs and desire to utilize spiritual care in their coping process tend to seek spiritual support from their physicians and other team workers who service them in health care settings (Loetz et al., 2013). Therefore, the spiritual application of Kirkpatrick and Shaver's religion and attachment theory helped to interpret the results of the study of the relationship between spiritual care visit and discharge location. Research shows that when patients feel secure in their relationships with their palliative care workers, the workers may become significant sources to support patients' end of life choices (Millberg et al., 2012). Moreover, healthy attachments among patients and staff, including spiritual care workers, can be beneficial for patients' discharge plans and locations (Balboni et al., 2017).

Nature of the Study

The nature of this study was quantitative with a nonexperimental, correlational research design. Quantitative research is consistent with understanding the relationship between spiritual care visits (independent variable) and patients' recorded discharge location (dependent variable), which is consistent with Kirkpatrick and Shaver's theory of spiritual application of attachment theory. Information about spiritual care visits and patients recorded discharge location were collected from patient records via a spreadsheet of the identified information provided at a hospital in Michigan. Data analysis included descriptive statistics and logistical regression analysis.

Definitions

Discharge planning: An interdisciplinary approach to continuity of care; it is a process that includes identification, assessment, goal setting, planning, implementation, coordination, and evaluation (Lin et al., 2012).

Palliative care: An approach that improves the quality of life of patients and their families facing the problem associated with life threatening illness (World Health Organization, 2017).

Spiritual care: Person-centered care that seeks to help people (re)discover hope, resilience, and inner strength in times of illness, injury, transition, and loss (Association of Professional Chaplains, 2013).

Spirituality: The aspect of humanity that refers to the way individuals seek and express meaning and purpose and the way they experience their connectedness to the moment, to self, to others, to nature, and to the significant or sacred (Puchalski et al., 2014).

Assumptions

The topical assumption for this study was its practical importance because of the research about spiritual care and discharge location despite the demonstrated importance of both relative to palliative care patients' outcomes (Hodge et al., 2014). A methodological assumption of this study was the data needed for the study in the client's record (Patel, 2019). Kirkpatrick and Shaver's attachment theory identifies assumptions of the patients' identifying their belief in God as a positive means of coping with their terminal illness. This may ultimately lead to them finding peace and meaning from stress

because of the illness and securing healthy relationships with others (Culver & Denton, 2017).

Limitations of the Study

The research was limited by using secondary data. Secondary data as recorded in patients' records may not accurately account for the variables to be studied. An attempt to maintain contact with professional staff for verification of correct information was used to help to control in the secondary data use (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). Additionally, this study was small and may not have reflect its entire community thus results may not generalize other cultural or ethical groups. Lastly, there may have been insufficient data for the study. For example, a discussion of discharge location may have taken place during a spiritual care visit, but it was not documented. It may thus appear that spiritual care did not influence the patients' decision on discharge location (Dunn et al., 2017).

Scope and Delimitations

The scope of the study includes secondary data collected by the spiritual care department on patients 18 years and older with diagnoses of end stage cancer, dementia, and chronic heart failure diagnosis from January 2019 to December 2019 at a hospital in Michigan. The patients were inpatient in predominantly oncology and pulmonary departments of the hospital. The patients were also eligible for palliative care (chronically ill and/or have received maximum of medical therapy indicating a need for pain and symptom management). The delimitations of the study include no secondary data from patients without a terminal illness and excluded secondary data from patients without a

terminal diagnosis of cancer, chronic heart failure, and dementia who may have received treatment during, before, or after 2019. Finally, data for cancer, dementia and heart failure patients who did not meet the criteria for palliative care during or after 2019 were not included in the study.

Significance

This research study filled the gap in the literature regarding the impact of spiritual care visits on discharge location for patient care in palliative care settings (Hall et al., 2016). The results of this study may benefit the profession by resulting in decreased hospital stays and rates of unplanned readmissions for palliative care patients, which are indicators of effective discharge planning (Lin et al., 2012). Positive social change may result from the implementation of polices and standardized procedures for providing spiritual care visits to patients in palliative care settings.

Summary

Spiritual care has often been underutilized in health care settings. Research has shown that spiritual care for patients in palliative care settings is important for the proper care of patients' existential, physical, and emotional needs (Balboni et al., 2013; Flannelly et al., 2012). The results of this study may provide information regarding the contribution spiritual care can have for patients in palliative care settings. Chapter 2 will provide a review of the literature on the role of spirituality and its impact on discharge location in the palliative care setting. Chapter 3 will include the methodology, research design, and data analysis.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The use of spiritual care assessments in the palliative care setting has increased over the years (Balboni et al., 2010). Many studies show a positive correlational between religious/spiritual issues having a significant influence on important indicators of quality of care (Delgado-Guay et al., 2015). Having some control and right to life decisions may be important to patients' quality of living toward end-of-life care. Other studies have shown that attention to spiritual needs reduces the use of aggressive care at the end of life (Balboni et al., 2010; Delgado-Guay et al., 2015). However, though patients in palliative care and oncology units have reported that spiritual care is an important factor to them, it has not been adequately addressed by the palliative care team. In a study of cancer patients with end stage heart failure, 70% expressed that their spiritual needs were minimally attended to or not supported at all by the medical system (Balboni et al., 2010).

This chapter introduces palliative care in relation to the hospice philosophy of quality care. It discusses the philosophy of palliative care and its uniqueness from hospice care. Additionally, an explanation of the palliative care movement is addressed. This chapter also reviews classical attachment theory and an attachment theory of God.

Literature Search Strategy

Articles were reviewed from 2013 to 2019, and identified studies focused on spiritual care in relation to chronic illness, pain, psychological care, palliative care, health psychology, and oncology. Other key words used were *discharge planning*, *spiritual assessment*, and *spiritual care*. Databases included Academic Search Complete (EBSCO), CINAHL (EBSCO), MEDLINE (EBSCO), PsycINFO (OVID), PubMed, ProQuest databases, and Google Scholar. The reference list of all included studies and other relevant reviews were searched manually to identify other potentially relevant papers. The literature review explores attachment theory and spiritual care in palliative care setting.

Theoretical Framework

Classical Attachment Theory

Bowlby has been credited with constructing attachment theory, which is built on the main goal of the attachment system is to provide the infant or child with a sense of security (Reuther, 2014). He was the first attachment theorist who developed a motivational system explaining how infants seek comfort and safety, mainly from their mothers and caregivers (Reuther, 2014). Attachment theory refers to the tendency of young children to seek contact with one or more consistent caregivers when frightened, worried, or vulnerable and to find such contact comforting (Fearon & Roisman, 2017). A child's early interactions and relationships with primary caregivers influences how the individual understands the self, others, and their relationship (Davis et al., 2016). Thus, the interactions between caregivers and children influence how they relate to others throughout their lives. Children who receive attention from the parent or caregiver when in distress learn safety and security. In contrast, children who do not receive the extra affirmation from their parent or caregiver learn distrust and generally have difficulties with social interactions and interpersonal relationships. Children quickly learn what limits are set in their relationship with their primary caregiver, which is mostly likely to continue into adulthood.

In Bowlby's work with infants, he suggested that a mental picture or schema, which continues throughout life, is developed from childhood. According to Bowlby (1990), this helps to control behaviors and allows the ability to function with healthy emotional regulation. In the presence of anxiety, there are three approaches that may occur: They may move away from the attached figure (dismissive), try harder to secure their relationship with their attachment figure (preoccupied), or they may become confused and unsure of how they did to respond (Culver & Denton, 2017). Avoidant and anxious attachment demonstrate a sense of distance and less trust with caregivers (Culver & Denton, 2017). When describing the psychological significance of a secure base, Bowlby (1969) noted that individuals will be less likely to feel fear when they are confident that an attachment figure will be available when they need it. Further, children who were raised with disorganized caregivers often struggle with structure and following rules (Davis et al., 2016). Others have also since made contributions to attachment theory, such as Thompson (1999), who concluded that adult attachment behavior should be viewed in the context of a developmental process, but none have deviated from the original source of Bowlby's theory.

Religion & Attachment Theory

Kirkpatrick and Sheaver were first to expand on Bowlby's attachment theory with contributions toward attachment theory to God (Culver & Denton, 2017). In their theory regarding religion and attachment, they examined the relationship with the divine as a source of attachment that impacts the life outcomes of religious adherents (Culver & Denton, 2017). A similar theory to the infant's relationship with the mother-caregiver was applied to an individual's relationship with God. Those believing in a God who provides a warm, responsive, and a secure base during times of threat and stress can find solace with the relationship. This relationship may be equal or even more for individuals and could compensate for an individual with an absent parent. This security ultimately may help with the understanding of someone's life purpose (Culver & Denton, 2017). Additionally, research shows that patients who use prayer as a coping mechanism are more likely to better manage negative emotions associated with various acute or chronic health related stress problems (Ellison et al., 2014).

In this pathology, individuals have problems maintaining relationships with others and therefore seek God to use as a surrogate attachment figure to regulate their distress (Jankowski et al., 2011). Empirical findings demonstrate that spiritual instability is like anxious God attachment and spiritual disappointment (Jankowski et al., 2011). It is also correlated with alienation, insecure attachment, and egocentrism. Further, research shows higher levels of spiritual instability associated with higher insecurity to God, increased God attachment avoidance and attachment anxiety, increased dysregulation, and increased mental health symptoms (Jankowski et al., 2011). In contrast, persons experiencing spiritual grandiosity may be identified as narcissistic or having a narcissistic personality disorder. Bowlby (1988) viewed those with a narcissistic personality type to experience attachment avoidance and have dealt with self-reliance because of the reject viewed from their caregivers. Spiritual grandiosity has been correlated with hypersensitive reactions to interpersonal offenses and anxious attachment experiences. Both spiritual grandiosity and instability represent anxiousness toward relationships with God and others (Jankowski et al., 2011).

Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variables Hospice Care

Hospice care was first developed by Dr. Cicely Saunders in the United Kingdom. The first US hospice was in Connecticut starting in 1974 (Walsh, Atkas, Hullihen, and Induru, 2011). Its basic philosophy was to provide quality and comfort care to those who are terminally ill and have a prognosis of life for six months or less. Dr. Saunders plan to utilize a team approach to patient care has been favorable for accommodating the needs of terminally ill patients. Team members generally consist of Medical Doctor, RN, social workers, chaplain, and aide. The key concepts for patients' total care incorporate the physical, psychological, spiritual, and social aspects of care. Additionally, Dr. Saunders took an approach to use settings for the patients to include the use of volunteers, bereavement services, and the formal role of a multidisciplinary team (Walsh et al., 2011). In 1981, Joint Commission Accreditation for Hospitals in the US reported more than 440 hospices in the US, and averages of 360 hospices were being planned. This number of hospice providers around the US continues to grow in large numbers.

Hospice workers provide quality care for the hospice patient. Callahan (2012) states that a hospice workers' ability to relate in a "spiritually sensitive" manner is relative to the patient's experience of life meaning and wellbeing. Patients in hospice often develop important and intense relationships with their hospice care workers. It is during this time in their lives', questions about meaning and worth may be of their

highest priority. Spiritual pain can be difficult to identify because it can be masked by physical pain (Callahan, 2012). Generally, it is the hospice caregiver who helps patients to process feelings and help to understand patient's needs.

In traditional medical care, the medical model has been the major model used in healthcare (Holyoke & Stephenson, 2017). This has distanced the medical and spiritual care professional's roles. All team members make significant contributions to the care of the patient, often spiritual issues may be overlooked or even excluded in hospice care. Hospice care was designed to support the patient and family in obtaining a life of worth and dignity (Callahan, 2012). It is often misunderstood that pain may occur in ways other than physical. This is the value of hospice care, to seek to meet the patient's needs collectively as a team. The goal of a multi –disciplinary team is not only for each member to understand and perform their role but to understand how each of the other role play a part in the patients' care. Spiritual care workers acknowledge themselves as the leaders of spiritual care but encourage other team members to provide spiritual or person-centered care. The quality of helping relationships in hospice care by all workers may help to guide the patient's spiritual and emotional well-being (Callahan, 2012).

In Callahan's study (2012), she seeks to define the relationship factors associated with spiritual care to understand "spiritually sensitive care". Her study consisted of six hospice workers who were interviewed about how they identified spiritual needs, provided spiritual care, and determined their effectiveness (Callahan, 2012). The hospice workers together made up eight years of hospice experience, and were employed as social workers, nurses, and a certified nursing assistant (Callahan, 2012). Participants were recruited between May 2009 and August 2009 in the eastern and southern regions of the US. Participants were interviewed by telephone, which lasts for 45 minutes to an hour. Participants were asked questions such as, "How do you know when a patient has a spiritual or religious need? How do you respond? If you make a referral, is there anything else you do? Do you think your response is a source of spiritual support? Why? In total there were six questions asked, and questions 1,3, and 5 verified assessments, questions 2 and 6 verified spiritual care interventions. The results were varied as some responses were, the worker did not feel comfortable with assessing spiritual needs resulting in looking at patients' records or assessment for guidance on their spiritual needs, or they realized on their own frame of reference and experience of what is spirituality, and how do you practice it. Several workers resulted in stating that they would refer the chaplain or spiritual care provider because it was out of their frame of reference (Callahan, 2012).

Further an additional study, discussing the effects of PTSD on hospice and palliative care patients, showed a relationship among avoidance coping, poorer health status in patients with cancer (Callahan, 2012). Feldman (2017; 1994) discusses a study which examined psychological symptoms, avoidance, and intrusive thoughts examined as predictors of cancer progression over a 1-year period. Sixty-six males and females were used in the cross-sectional analyses at the time of diagnoses. The longitudinal study showed a link to psychological stressors and increased effects of their illness. Feldman (2017) suggest that due to the chronic needs of hospice patients at end of life, establishing intense programs to address psychological stressors for this population is essential prior to their dying and receiving less than quality of care which is the hospice philosophy of care.

Palliative Care in the United States

Walsh et al. (2011) state that palliative care refers to a philosophical concept of comprehensive medical care for patients with life threatening illness that focuses on control of pain and other symptoms, management of complications, and enhancement of quality of life. Palliative care addresses symptom management and complex medical care services for patients with advanced stages of their diagnoses.

Palliative care began in the United Kingdom in the 1960's which developed from the hospice philosophy of providing quality of life for terminally ill patients (Walsh et al., 2011). According to the Center to Advanced Palliative Care (2009) palliative care is the only program that provides holistic care using an array of treatments or interventions desired by the patients and focused on quality of life and pain management regards of a patients' prognosis. The palliative care movement in the United States has become an effort for physicians to manage advanced stages of cancer before moving to the hospice care benefit (Lutz, 2011). Most of the palliative consults and referrals for physicians originate from oncology departments with advanced stage cancer patients (Walsh et al., 2011). Palliative care services offer an opportunity to address the needs for cancer patients to look at holistic care in addition to receiving possible infusion treatments. Further people who are diagnosed with advanced cancer stages are often too fatigued and weak to receive multiple chemotherapies. Options of total care with limited aggressive care, can be a better alternative for someone who is not quite hospice ready or eligible (Walsh et al., 2011).

Virdun, Luckett, Davidson, and Phillips (2015) state that it is estimated that at any given time almost a quarter of all hospitalized patients have palliative care needs. It has been favorable for patients who decide to live at home and receive palliative care services. Yet new projections showing the number of people who are inpatient with palliative care services is expected to increase due to the ageing population and complexities of illness and care needs exceeding community resources. Like hospice care, palliative care needs for additional psychosocial supports have been increasing at a rapid growth. Specifically, there is increased research that suggests a need to provide spiritually based assessment and supports from staff towards end-of-life care. In a study which assessed 160 palliative care patients diagnosed with terminal cancer and in a hospital setting, there was a significant correlation among patients' belief to have their spiritual wellbeing and being accurately assessed for their spiritual needs before death. Additional findings showed that those who were not considered as religious or spiritual had a higher score of depression (McClain, Rosenfield, and Breitbart, 2007).

Moreover, palliative care patients who have a diagnosis of heart failure have also been researched showing a correlation among heart failure and psychosocial –spiritual distress issues (Gillilan, Qawi, Weymillier, & Puchalski 2017) Patients with heart failure often have co-morbidities such as, anxiety, depression, dyspnea, pain, fatigue, and sleep disturbances (Gillilan et al., 2017). Recent studies show an increase in heart failure patients being referred to palliative care for quality of living treatments. Research in several studies involving heart patients now receiving palliative care services, lack in receiving considerable services as with cancer and dementia care such as advanced care planning, discharge concerns, and quality assurance for caregivers (Gillilan et al., 2017).

Psychosocial Care

Psychosocial spiritual care is defined as aspects of care concerning patient emotional state, social support and relationships, and spiritual wellbeing (Chibnall, Benett, Videen, Duckro, & Miller, 2004). Palliative care documentation includes a psychosocial care plan as part of each patient's plan of care and services. Research has shown that failure to perform an early psychosocial assessment of palliative care patients may prolong their symptoms of depression and anxiety issues (Chibnall et al., 2004). However past and present research indicates that medical institutions have done a poor job of including the psychosocial-spiritual aspects of patient care (Delgado-Guay et al., 2016). Further the Institute of Medicine (2007) issued a report titled, "Cancer for the whole patient: Meeting the needs of psychosocial health needs". The report states that "the psychosocial-spiritual dimension, including appropriate assessment and interventions, must become an integral part of the of routine cancer care for all patients". In a study using 292 advanced stage cancer patients at a palliative care clinic, patients were given the Edmonton Symptom Assessment Scale measuring psychological, social, spiritual, and financial pain. The scale was used to determine the relationship between pain, fatigue, nausea, drowsiness, dyspnea, sleep, appetite, anxiety, depression, wellbeing, and financial distresses. Patients who reported spiritual pain also had problems with physical and psychological distress such as depression and anxiety (Delgado-Guay

et al., 2015). Overall, it was determined that those with spiritual pain had increased levels of pain at 182% higher than those who expressed little or no spiritual pain issues (Delgado- Guay et al., 2015).

According to Inbadas (2016) Patients dealing with life limited illnesses often experience spiritual distress and existential despair along with physical suffering caused by the illness. Inbadas (2016) describes the main two concepts behind the spirituality in health care. He states that the field of spiritual care acknowledges that spiritual pain or distress experienced by patients' helps to address the complete needs of spiritual care for patients. The second concept is spirituality is the core of medical and health care services, and not an addition or one aspect of care. Both perspectives offer opportunities to reexamine how historical and cultural understandings of death contribute to the field of spirituality and healthcare (Inbadas, 2016). The changes to understanding the relationship of spirituality and medicine have led to an approach of the here and now and less reflection on life after death. This has opened the door to many disciplines taking an interest in the field of spirituality. Palliative care has been an area where patients often are aware or become aware of the relationship among the mind, body, and spirit. For this reason, palliative care has become one of the most professionally researched fields to study spirituality and medicine utilizing both qualitative and quantitative methods of study. Further research has been favorable in empirical studies showing an increased awareness and understanding of spiritual issues and positive impacts for patients. Other scholars have acknowledged that research lacks in including more on relationships,

patients' beliefs systems, and social, cultural, and religious factors to understanding additional factors of spirituality (Inbadas, 2016).

Palliative Care Patients

Palliative care is designed to avoid suffering of patients and their loved ones by incorporating a team of professionals for treatments (Walsh et al., 2011). Patients, who are at end-of-life care, need assistance to make both medical and practical decisions regarding their wellbeing (Rome et al., 2011). Palliative care may utilize life prolonging, aggressive symptom management, and psychosocial supports to help patients improve their wellbeing.

Typically, palliative care patients begin in the hospital setting mostly on oncology units (Walsh et al., 2011). The number one compliant of palliative care patients is generally physical pain. This is often associated with emotional and spiritual pain however physical pain is first addressed (Rome et al., 2011). In addition, patients often begin to experience dyspnea, restlessness, when closer to death; patients may experience the death rattle. The death rattle involves patients gaining control of their oropharyngeal secretions (Rome et al., 2011).

Rome et al (2011) report the four components of total pain for palliative care patients which deals with physical pain, dyspnea, restlessness, and the death rattle. They report that pain is often multiple and must be treated for comfort care and adequate transitioning during the end-of-life phase for patients. Anxiety, and other related emotions may be symptoms of pain and delirium. Medicines prescribed to help this process include anticholinergics, sedative-hypnotics, and opioids. Often these signs of restlessness are associated with some form of spiritual or emotional distress towards endof-life issues. Patients who experience terminal delirium or agitation, where their restlessness and agitation continue for an extended time, require stronger doses of opioids such as haloperidol (Rome et al., 2011). Further, research has been consistent in showing that adding psychosocial-spiritual issues are related to positive wellbeing outcomes for those who face terminal illness. Patients tend to look for more meaning and purpose in their lives as well as sources of faith and substance. It is normal for patients facing terminal illness to have increased fears, anxiety, and depression as they move closer to their deaths. Terminally ill populations show a higher risk of suicide, hopelessness, and a desire for hastened death compared to the general population (McClain, Rosenfield, & Breitbart, 2003).

Commonly, cancer patients are often of the first patients to be referred for a palliative care consult (Walsh et al., 2011). Various types of cancers, i.e., breast, and lung cancer are associated with depression and dyspnea. Some patients deal with multiple losses when being diagnosed with a terminal illness. They may struggle with accepting the loss of having cancer, their independence, and other affects. According to Rome et al (2011) anxiety, social support networks, financial and related stressors, spiritual resources, and issues with relationships with their physicians become major areas of concern for patients facing terminal illness. For this reason, treating the whole person is especially important for the patients' dignity.

Dignity therapy is defined by Montross-Thomas et al. (2015) as a brief psychotherapeutic design to address the emotional and existential needs of adults who are receiving hospice or palliative care while enhancing a sense of legacy. Spiritual care personnel may use dignity therapy in their counseling sessions. Patients discuss their most important memories; times they felt most alive in their lives, and their accomplishments. Previous studies indicated that the therapy is effective to reduce some level of stress for advanced cancer patients to help them to find meaning in their lives Montross-Thomas et al. (2015).

New research techniques explore less of the measurement for effectiveness on how patients feel but more on if they report positive outcomes and demonstrate fewer depressive symptoms (Montross-Thomas et al., 2015). In one study using 90 participants, 45 received dignity therapy and 45 received general supportive attention for 6 sessions over a 3-week period. The study showed mixed results when discussing stress factors or reducing overall stress however provided stronger factors towards positivity among the participants who received dignity therapy (Montross-Thomas et al., 2015).

Summary

In summary, the use of psychosocial –spiritual assessments have been a significant part of the palliative care process. Many patients have identified their spiritual concerns as an important factor. However, it remains that often their spiritual needs neglected in the palliative care setting. Studies show a positive correlation between religion/spirituality issues and its influence on quality of care. Additional studies show that addressing spiritual needs reduces the use of aggressive care towards end of life. The use of empirical evidence in the relationship between spiritual care and palliative care outcomes may serve an important role in developing a more standardized application of

spiritual care assessments and delivery in palliative care settings. This is beneficial for patient's overall quality of life and reduces cost in medical care. In Chapter 3, I provide a comprehensive description of the designed study, the materials used for the study, and the details of the participants with the use of secondary data.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between spiritual care during palliative care and discharge location. The research questions addressed the relationship between spiritual care visits, gender, age, religion, primary diagnosis, and race and palliative discharge location. Secondary data were used to determine the quality of care used for palliative care patients as part of the spiritual care routine assessment process. According to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid and the Joint Commission (CMC, 2017), a spiritual care assessment for all patients admitted into hospice must be offered to receive a reimbursement. This chapter presents the research design, methodology, and data collection used for spiritual care assessments and interventions within the palliative care setting.

Research Design

This study was a quantitative study with a non-experimental correlational research design. In correlational research, data are collected to assess for the relationship with the unmanipulated variables (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). Since there was no experiment used, there were no time or resource constraints. Quantitative research is consistent with the relationship between spiritual care visits and patients' recorded discharge locations and helped to generalize the outcome of spiritual care and palliative patients' options in various locations. The independent variable was spiritual care visits, and the dependent variable was patients' decisions, after talking with a spiritual care provider, where their discharge location was a nursing home, or home setting. This study

focused on spiritual care visits co-varying with patient's decisions to choose quality of care in their living situations location.

Methodology

Population and Sample

Secondary data were available for palliative care patients between January 2019 and December 2019. These patients are typically 65 years old and older, with primary diagnosis as cancer and heart failure. They can typically spend up to 6 months or more enrolled into palliative care. Because secondary data were used, no sampling methods were used in the study. The inclusionary criteria consisted of a review of spiritual care' records of palliative care patients with a terminally ill diagnosis. For this study, the medium effect size of 0.30 was used to allow for greater results. The alpha level of 0.05 and a power level of .80 allowed for reduced Type 2 error with a confidence interval of 95%, and G Power determined a sample size of 111 patients.

Setting

Terminally ill patients received a referral from their physician and were provided with a consult or referral on palliative and/or hospice services. Palliative care settings were designed for patient's comfort and well-being through medical and nursing care. The focus was on pain management and quality of life for patients and their families. Additionally, patients were given the opportunity to agree to meet with a spiritual care provider and to continue additional visits and spiritual services that were determined during the time of the initial visit. The assessment or initial visit was used to determine spiritual care concerns, needs, including what type of service(s) should be continued, and to measure levels of spiritual and emotional distress.

Data Collection Method

For this study, the data were provided to the researcher inter-office with a confidential mailing system. Data were received on an Excel spreadsheet with no participant identifiers. Palliative care spiritual visits addressed age, gender, religion, diagnoses, and multiple comorbidities that were used in describing the demographic characteristics of the patients. Discharge locations were at home setting, and nursing home services. Data were stored at the hospital's computer with password protection. It will be kept for seven years consistent with ethical practices for data management and storage.

Data Analysis Plan

Descriptive statistics were run to determine the mean and standard deviation for patients' and number of spiritual care visits. Frequency and percentage were used to describe patients' age (1 = 65 and younger, 2 = 65 and older), gender (1 = male, 2 = female), race (1 = Asian, 2 = African American, 3 = White, and 4 = Other), religion (1 = Catholic, 2 = Protestant, 3 = non-religious, 4 = Other), and primary diagnosis (1 = cancer, 2 = heart disease, 3 = dementia, and 4 = other). The discharge location was indicated by 0 died before d/c, 1 home, and 2 nursing home placement and the discharge location. Additional variables were from social worker visits based on insurance coverage, availability of beds, and caregiver accessibilities. Logistic regression statistics was used to test for a relationship among the independent and dependent variables. Regression

allows for assessing the relationship an independent and dependent variable while controlling the effect of others (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). The test used a two-tailed test and a p value of 0.05. Raw data were input into the computer data system SPSS program.

Threats to Validity

History may be considered a threat to internal validity for this study. History is unrelated events which influences the outcome of the study (Bhandari, 2020). The study includes information from 2019, but due to COVID, the results may not be applicable. Patients are less likely to be placed in a new location or facility during the virus outbreak to maintain control over the spreading of the virus. Additionally, spiritual care visits were generally provided on a referral basis. Many of those referrals and visits were temporarily discontinued due to the virus. Lastly, spiritual care providers were less likely to receive adequate trainings on providing virtual visits for patients to influence their discharge location decisions.

Situational validity may occur as an external threat in the study. Situational threats to validity involve factors that control the discharge location causing limits in the generalized ability of the findings (Bhandari, 2020). Patients' information in this study may not indicate the variables affecting the decision of their discharge location and setting. The independent variable in the study may not include variables that affect the decision of patients' discharge location and setting. Therefore, variables such as insurance, availability of beds, and caregiver issues are included. To ensure that the study was best represented a time frame for this data studied was approximately 1 year.

Ethical Procedures

Permission was requested to use the patient data from the hospital. No patient identifiers were used, only numerical data and descriptors such as age and religion. The doctoral study proposal was also submitted to Walden University Institutional Review Board for approval of secondary analysis (approval no. NHSR-21-948).

Summary

This study used secondary data for examining spiritual care visits and the prediction of discharge location. The chapter focused on the research method, design, and data collection and analysis. Chapter 4 will present the result of the data analysis, report any discrepancies in the study, and discuss limits of the study.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between spiritual care during palliative care and discharge location. The number of spiritual care visits was the independent variable, and the discharge location was the dependent variable. Regression analysis was used to determine whether the independent variable predicts the dependent variable. Establishing additional empirical evidence of this relationship may inform spiritual care practices in palliative care settings. The results helped answer the research questions, which addressed the relationship between spiritual care visits, gender, age, religion, primary diagnosis, and race and palliative discharge location.

Data Collection

Data were received on an Excel spreadsheet with no participant identifiers from a hospital in Michigan. Secondary data were used to determine patients' criteria for the study through January 2019 to December 2019. Palliative care spiritual visits addressed age, gender, religion, diagnoses, and race was used in describing the demographic characteristics of the patients. Discharge locations were at the home setting and nursing home services.

Demographics

A total of 186 patients were included in the study. The demographic characteristics included age, race, and gender, diagnosis, spiritual care visits, and religion of participants. The demographic characteristics of participants are presented in Table 1. There were 107 participants 65 years old and younger (57.5%). In terms of race, there were 85 African American participants (27.9%) and 80 Asian participants (37.2%). There were 108 female participants (58.06%) and 78 male participants (41.9%). For diagnosis, majority of participants have cancer (n = 106, 56.9%). Almost all participants received spiritual care visits (n = 125, 67.2%) and those without spiritual care visits (n = 61; 32.8%). In terms of religion, 75 participants were Protestants (40.3%).

Table 1

| Demographic Characterist | ics | Frequency | % |
|--------------------------|------------------|-----------|-------|
| Age | 65 and younger | 107 | 57.5 |
| - | Older than 65 | 79 | 42.4 |
| | Total | 186 | 100.0 |
| Race | Asian | 80 | 37.2 |
| | African American | 85 | 27.9 |
| | White | 7 | 3.5 |
| | Other | 14 | 26.0 |
| | Total | 186 | 100.0 |
| Gender | Male | 78 | 41.9 |
| | Female | 108 | 58.0 |
| | Total | 186 | 100.0 |
| Diagnosis | Cancer | 106 | 56.9 |
| | Heart Disease | 11 | 5.5 |
| | Dementia | 1 | 0.5 |
| | Other | 68 | 36.5 |
| | Total | 186 | 100.0 |
| Spiritual Care Visits | No | 61 | 32.8 |
| | Yes | 125 | 67.2 |
| | Total | 186 | 100.0 |
| Religion | Catholic | 38 | 20.4 |
| - | Protestant | 75 | 40.3 |
| | Non-Religious | 52 | 27.9 |
| | Other | 21 | 10.4 |

Frequencies and Percentages of Demographic Characteristics (N=186)

To address the research questions, logistic regression analyses were conducted to determine the relationships between independent and dependent variables. Logistic regression analyses were deemed as appropriate because the dependent variable was categorical in nature. A significance level of .05 was used for all analyses. Prior to conducting the logistic regression analysis, assumptions of logistic regression were checked. Unlike linear regression analysis, logistic regression has fewer assumptions. First, the observations should not come from repeated measurements or matched data (Salkind, 2010). In this study, the observations are independent of each other, which are based on individual patient's data. Second, logistic regression involves the assumption of linearity of independent variables and log odds. In the case of this study, the independent variables are categorical in nature. Thus, the assumption of linearity is not violated. Finally, logistic regression requires a large sample size (Salkind, 2010). For this study, the sample size was 186 patients. All assumptions were met for this study.

Research Question 1

RQ 1: To what extent is there a relationship between spiritual care visits and palliative discharge location?

H₀1: There is no relationship between spiritual care visits and palliative discharge location.

H₁1: There is a relationship between spiritual care visits and palliative discharge location.

For the first research question, the cross-tabulation results are presented in Table 2. There were more participants discharged to home who have spiritual care. However, there were more participants discharged to nursing home who did not have spiritual care.

Table 2

Cross Tabulation Between Discharge Location and Spiritual Care

| Discharge Locat | ion and Spiritual | Spirit | ual | |
|-----------------|---------------------------|--------|-----|-------|
| Care | | No | Yes | Total |
| D/C Location | Home | 31 | 98 | 129 |
| | Nursing Home Placement | 30 | 27 | 57 |
| Total | | 61 | 125 | 186 |

The result of the logistic regression analysis conducted determined that spiritual care categories are significantly related to home and nursing home placement (B = -1.256, p < .01). The result of the analysis supported the result of the cross-tabulation analysis that there is a relationship between discharge location and spiritual care of patients (p < .001). Therefore, patients who received spiritual care are 71.5% less likely to be discharged to a nursing home compared to those who did not receive spiritual care visits (OR =.285; *p* < .001).

Table 3

| | | | | | | | | 95% CI fo | or Exp(B) |
|--------------|--|--------|------|--------|----|-------|--------|-----------|-----------|
| | | | | | | | | Lower | Upper |
| D/C Location | n | В | SE | Wald | df | Sig. | Exp(B) | Bound | Bound |
| Nursing | Spiritual | -1.256 | .336 | 13.989 | 1 | <.001 | .285 | .147 | .550 |
| Home | Care | | | | | | | | |
| Placement | | | | | | | | | |
| | Intercept | 033 | .256 | .016 | 1 | .898 | .968 | | |
| Note · Refe | Note: Reference Category: Home Placement | | | | | | | | |

Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Spiritual Care

Note: Reference Category: Home Placement

Research Question 2

RQ 2: To what extent is there a relationship between patients' gender and palliative discharge location?

 H_02 : There is no relationship between patients' gender and palliative discharge location.

H12: There is a relationship between patients' gender and palliative discharge

location.

For the second research question, the cross-tabulation results are presented in Table 4.

Table 4

Discharge Location and Gender

| | Gender | | | | | |
|----------------|---------------------------|------|--------|-------|--|--|
| Discharge Loca | tion and Gender | Male | Female | Total | | |
| D/C Location | Home | 57 | 72 | 129 | | |
| | Nursing Home Placement | 21 | 36 | 57 | | |
| Total | | 78 | 108 | 186 | | |

The regression model (Table 4) shows that female patients are more than 1.357 times more likely to discharge home compared to male patients (OR = 1.357; p = .350; 95% CI: [.715, 2.575]). However, no significant association of gender with discharge home was identified (OR =1.357; p = .350; 95% CI: [.715, 2.575]). The result of the analysis supported the result of the cross-tabulation analysis that there is no relationship between discharge location and gender of patients (p = .350).

Table 5

| | | | | | | | | | CI for b(B) |
|-----------------|--------------------|----------------|--------------|---------------|--------|--------------|---------------|----------------|----------------|
| D/C Location | and Gender | В | SE | Wald | df | Sig. | Exp(B) | Lower Bound | Upper Bound |
| Nursing Home | Female Constant | .305 -1.304 | .327 .550 | .873 5.624 | 1 1 | .350 .018 | 1.357 .271 | .715 | 2.575 |
| Placement | | | | | | | | | |

Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Gender

Note: Reference Category: Home Placement Reference Category: Male

Research Question 3

RQ 3: To what extent is there a relationship between patients' age and palliative

discharge location?

H₀3: There is no relationship between patients' age and palliative discharge

location.

H₁3: There is a relationship between patients' age and palliative discharge

location.

For the third research question, the cross-tabulation results are presented in Table

6. The results show the majority of those who were discharged to home and to nursing

home placement were 65 years old or younger.

Table 6

Cross Tabulation between Discharge Location and Patients' Age

| | | Age | | | | | |
|----------------|---------------------------|---------|---------|-------|--|--|--|
| | | 65 and | older | | | | |
| Discharge Loca | tion and Age | younger | than 65 | Total | | | |
| D/C Location | Home | 71 | 58 | 129 | | | |
| | Nursing Home Placement | 36 | 21 | 57 | | | |
| Total | | 107 | 79 | 186 | | | |

The regression model (Table7) shows that age is significantly associated with patients over 65 years of age, and more likely to die before discharge compared to younger patients (OR = .042; p = .003; 95% CI: [.005, .340]). However, no significant association of age with discharge home was identified (OR = .714; p = .303; 95% CI:

[.376, 1.355]).

Table 7

Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Patients' Age

| | | | | | | | | 95% (Exp | |
|------------------------------|-----------|------|------|-------|----|------|------|----------------|----------------|
| D/C Location | and Age | В | SE | Wald | Df | Sig. | OR | Lower Bound | Upper Bound |
| Nursing Home Placement | Age>65 | -337 | .327 | 1.063 | 1 | .303 | .714 | .376 | 1.355 |
| | Intercept | 342 | .482 | .505 | 1 | .477 | .710 | | |

Note. Reference Category: Home Placement Reference Category: Age < 65

Research Question 4

RQ4: To what extent is there a relationship between patients' religion and

palliative discharge location?

H₀4: There is no relationship between patients' religion and palliative discharge

location.

H₁4: There is a relationship between patients' religion and palliative discharge

location.

For the fourth research question, the cross-tabulation results are presented in

Table 9.

Table 8

| | | Religion | | | | | | | | |
|----------------|---------------------------|----------|------------|-----------|-------|-------|--|--|--|--|
| | | Non- | | | | | | | | |
| Discharge Loca | tion and Religion | Catholic | Protestant | religious | Other | Total | | | | |
| D/C Location | Home | 24 | 48 | 44 | 13 | 129 | | | | |
| | Nursing Home Placement | 14 | 27 | 8 | 8 | 57 | | | | |
| Total | | 38 | 75 | 52 | 21 | 186 | | | | |

Cross-Tabulation Between Discharge Location and Religion

The result of the logistic regression analysis conducted determined that religion categories are significantly related to discharge location with those discharged to a nursing home placement (p < .001). Patients of any religion were over three times more likely to be discharged to a nursing home- Catholics: OR=3.208, p=0.22, Protestants: OR= 3.094, p=.013, and other religions: OR= 3.385; p=.039. The result of the analysis supported the result of the cross-tabulation analysis that there is a relationship between discharge location and religion of patients (p = .034).

Table 9

Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Patients' Religion

| | | | | | | | | 95% CI | for Exp(B) |
|--------------|-----------------|--------|------|--------|----|-------|--------|--------|------------|
| | | | | | | | | Lower | Upper |
| D/C Location | on ^a | В | SE | Wald | df | Sig. | Exp(B) | Bound | Bound |
| Nursing | Religion | | | 7.436 | 3 | .059 | | | |
| Home | [Catholic] | 1.166 | .511 | 5.210 | 1 | .022 | 3.208 | 1.179 | 8.730 |
| Placement | [Protestant] | 1.129 | .453 | 6.204 | 1 | .013 | 3.094 | 1.272 | 7.524 |
| | [Other] | 1.219 | .591 | 4.252 | 1 | .039 | 3.385 | 1.062 | 10.785 |
| | Intercept | -1.705 | .384 | 19.673 | 1 | <.001 | .182 | | |

Note. Reference Category: Home Placement

Reference Category: Those with no religious affiliation

Research Question 5

RQ5: To what extent is there a relationship between patients' primary diagnosis

and palliative discharge location?

H_o5: There is no relationship between patients' primary diagnosis and palliative discharge location.

H₁5: There is a relationship between patients' primary diagnosis and palliative discharge location.

Table 20

Cross-Tabulation between Discharge Location and Patients' Primary Diagnosis

| | | Diagnosis | | | | | | | |
|-----------------|---------------------------|-----------|---------------|----------|-------|-------|--|--|--|
| Discharge Locat | tion and Diagnosis | Cancer | Heart Disease | Dementia | Other | Total | | | |
| D/C Location | Home | 82 | 6 | 0 | 41 | 129 | | | |
| | Nursing Home Placement | 24 | 5 | 1 | 27 | 57 | | | |
| Total | | 106 | 11 | 1 | 68 | 186 | | | |

The result of the logistic regression analysis conducted determined that patients' diagnosis categories can be significantly related to discharge location with respect to nursing home placement. Dementia was reclassified in the "other category" due to there was only one patient with a diagnosis of dementia. To avoid skewing the home verses nursing home distribution dementia was added to the other category. The findings show that there is a significance for other diagnosis however no significance for those patients with heart disease and discharge location. Therefore, discharge location is not significantly different for other diagnosis patients compared to cancer patients. However, patients with heart disease are 2.847 (OR= 2.847, p=.107) times likely to be discharged to a nursing home than cancer patients. Overall, the result of the analysis supported the result of the cross-tabulation analysis that there is a relationship between discharge location and diagnosis of patients (p = .012).

Table 31

| | | | | | | | | 95% (| CI for |
|-------------|--|--------|------|--------|----|-------|--------|-------|--------------|
| | | | | | | | | Exp | o (B) |
| | | | | | | | | Lower | Upper |
| D/C Locatio | on ^a | В | SE | Wald | df | Sig. | Exp(B) | Bound | Bound |
| Nursing | Diagnosis | | | 7.355 | 2 | .025 | | | |
| Home | Diagnosis=1(heart | 1.046 | .648 | 2.603 | 1 | .107 | 2.847 | .799 | 10.149 |
| Placement | disease) | | | | | | | | |
| | Diagnosis=2(Other: Dementia, Debility, Liver disease, ALS and Stroke) | .847 | .338 | 6.299 | 1 | .012 | 2.333 | 1.204 | 4.522 |
| | Intercept | -1.229 | .232 | 28.028 | 1 | <.001 | .293 | | |

| Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Pat | ients' Diagnosis |
|---|------------------|
|---|------------------|

Note. Reference Category: Home Placement Reference Category: Cancer

Research Question 6

RQ6: To what extent is there a relationship between patients' race and palliative

discharge location?

H_o6: There is no relationship between patients' race and palliative discharge

location.

H₁6: There is a relationship between patients' race and palliative discharge

location.

For the sixth research question, the cross-tabulation results are presented in Table

12.

Table 42

| | Race | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------|---|-------|-------|--|
| Discharge Landin and Dave | African Asian American White | | | Other | T (1 | |
| Discharge Location and Race | Asian | Asian American | | Other | Total | |
| Home | 58 | 63 | 7 | 1 | 129 | |
| Nursing Home | 22 | 22 | 0 | 13 | 57 | |
| Total | 80 | 85 | 7 | 14 | 186 | |

Cross Tabulation Between Discharge Location and Patients' Race

The result of the logic regression analysis conducted determined that the discharge location is not significantly different for African American patients compared to Asian patients (OR= .921, p =.814). However, patients of other non -White races are 34 times more likely to be discharged to a nursing home than Asian patients (OR= .34.273, p<.001).

Table 53

Logistic Regression Result for Discharge Location and Patients' Race

| | | | | | | | | 95% CI for Exp(B) | |
|---------------------------|---------------|-------|-------|--------|----|-------|--------|-------------------|---------|
| | | | | | | | | Lower | Upper |
| D/C Location ^a | | В | SE | Wald | df | Sig. | Exp(B) | Bound | Bound |
| Nursing | Race | | | 11.598 | 2 | .003 | | | |
| Home | African | 083 | .352 | .055 | 1 | .814 | .921 | .462 | 1.836 |
| Placement | American | | | | | | | | |
| | Other:(Native | 3.534 | 1.066 | 10.961 | 1 | <.001 | 34.273 | 4.299 | 277.735 |
| | American) | | | | | | | | |
| | race | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | Intercept | 969 | .250 | 14.989 | 1 | <.001 | .379 | | |

Note. Reference Category: Home Placement

Reference Category: Asian. White race was not included in the regression due to lack of variability (all seven White patients were discharged home). Other: Native American

The overall multivariate regression included an analysis for demographics and

social work factors. Results of the multivariate regression are presented in Table 14

which indicated that there is a relationship between spiritual care and discharge location (Chi Square= 110.825, p=<.001). Once the covariates were added to the model, spiritual care, race, and caregiver availability remained significantly associated with the discharge location. However, primary diagnosis and religion no longer were significant.

Table 64

| Variation | in | Equation |
|-----------|----|----------|
|-----------|----|----------|

| Variables in the equation | | В | S.E. | Wald | Df | Sig. | Exp (B) | Lower | Upper |
|---------------------------|--------------------------------|--------|-------|--------|----|-------|---------|--------|----------|
| | spiritual care given *** | -3.372 | .700 | 23.215 | 1 | <.001 | 0.034 | .009 | .135 |
| | age > 65 | -1.187 | .626 | 3.596 | 1 | .058 | .305 | .090 | 1.041 |
| | Race *** | | | 23.521 | 2 | <.001 | | | |
| | Race (1) | -1.247 | .859 | 2.107 | 1 | .147 | .287 | .053 | 1.548 |
| | Race (2) *** | 6.299 | 1.409 | 19.972 | 1 | <.001 | 543.786 | 34.336 | 8612.157 |
| | Female | 404 | .527 | .589 | 1 | .443 | .667 | .238 | 1.874 |
| | Diagnosis | | | .648 | 2 | .723 | | | |
| Step 1 ^a | Diagnosis (1) | 971 | 1.210 | .643 | 1 | .423 | .379 | .035 | 4.062 |
| | Diagnosis (2) | 059 | .518 | .013 | 1 | .910 | .943 | .342 | 2.603 |
| | caregiver available *** | -2.660 | .590 | 20.354 | 1 | <.001 | .070 | .022 | .222 |
| | Religion | | | 6.994 | 3 | .072 | | | |
| | Religion (1) | 1.732 | 1.166 | 2.205 | 1 | .138 | 5.651 | .575 | 55.572 |
| | Religion (2) ** | 2.331 | .921 | 6.410 | 1 | .011 | 10.287 | 1.693 | 62.500 |
| | Religion (3) | 1.766 | 1.192 | 2.195 | 1 | .138 | 5.850 | .565 | 60.519 |
| | Constant | 3.521 | 1.555 | 5.126 | 1 | .024 | 33.812 | | |

 $\frac{\text{Constant} 3.521 1.555 5.126}{\text{Note. Full model} = X^2 = 110.825, p < .001$

Cox and Snell: $R^2 = .462$, Nagelkerke: $R^2 = .647$

p*<.05, *p*<.001

Summary

The purpose of this study was to fill in the gap in the literature by demonstrating the relationship of spiritual care visits during palliative care at discharge location. The research approach used a quantitative method. A review of secondary data was provided to show the patients that met the medical qualifications for palliative care services. Treatment outcomes were compared with those who received spiritual care visits and were discharged home or discharged to a nursing facility. There was a total of 186 patients, 140 of whom received spiritual care visitations. One hundred twenty-nine patients who received spiritual care visits were discharged home; 57 patients were discharged to a nursing home setting. Fifteen died before their discharge resulting in a total of 186 patient used for this study.

Six research questions were studied to determine if there was any significant difference between patients in palliative care services receiving spiritual care services and patients' decision to discharge home or nursing home setting. Logistic regression was used for the statistical outcome of this study. The results indicated a significance difference in spiritual care visits of those patients discharged home instead of to the nursing home setting. However, gender and age were not significant in this study. The multivariate regression indicated that spiritual care, race, and caregiver availability remained significantly associated however primary diagnosis and religion did not. Chapter 5 will include the summary, conclusions, and recommendations for this study. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Spiritual care can be important for terminally ill patients, supporting them through listening, praying, and offering rituals for patients (Darren et al., 2018). Often focusing primarily on the supportive role, spiritual care has resulted in a lack of productivity in documentation and opportunities to provide practical care within the palliative care setting (Kearney et al., 2017). However, hospitals often discharge patients with insufficient planning, poor instruction, inadequate information, and a lack of coordination among the health care team members (Lin et al., 2012). By identifying the number of spiritual care assessments or visits and patients' decisions of their discharge location, I determined the potential effectiveness of spiritual care in the promotion of positive outcomes for palliative care patients. When spiritual care is part of the interdisciplinary process, there is an opportunity to provide improved quality of care to patients and their families (Darren et al., 2018).

This study was designed to fill in the gap of spiritual care when it is included in the process of treatment planning and clinical decisions including discharge planning and location. A review of secondary data was initiated demonstrating patients receiving spiritual care visits during palliative care treatments and care. Treatment outcomes were compared with those who received spiritual care visits and were discharged home or discharged to a nursing facility. There was a total of 186 patients used in this study. There were 140 patients which received spiritual care visitations; 129 patients who received spiritual care visits were discharged home, 57 patients were discharged to a nursing home outcome of this study. The results indicated a significance difference in spiritual care visits of those patients discharged home instead of to the nursing home setting.

Interpretation of the Findings

Spiritual Care

Patients who receive palliative care services and consistent communication from their medical team, including physicians, nurses, social workers, and chaplains, have had a clearer understanding and expectations for improved care among adult critical and terminally ill patients within the transdisciplinary team care approach (Daly et al., 2013). Due the importance of patients' spirituality being supported by their team members; it resulted in patients' opportunity for making more clear and concise choices as well as improved quality of life care (Daly et al., 2013). Often patients desire to discuss with their physician and team care members the relationship of spirituality, its practicalities, and their chronic illness (Balboni et al., 2007; Hopeck, 2020). Spirituality can give meaning to patients and their families in the face of a terminal illness and provide an awareness of their own beliefs in higher powers that may or may not include the concept of God but offer hope in a life-threatening circumstance (Hennesy et al., 2020).

Patients in this study who received spiritual care visits were more likely to consider discharge locations options considering their spiritual perspective related to future health choices. A good death may be identified by some patients as having a preference of dying locations, pain management, and developing a source of peace and emotional well-being (Meier et al., 2016). Similarly, my study occurred within an acute care facility where most of the patients are seen by a spiritual care worker having an impact on their discharge locations. Some acute care settings have incorporated spiritual care workers as part of the care plan for palliative care patients of which this location is one of those hospitals. Spiritual care referrals allow for a good collaboration, service line communication, and carry through to patients enhance the quality of spiritual care (Hennesy et al., 2020). Patients in this study were initially provided through spiritual care referrals. This presented an opportunity for good collaboration and continuum of care services to take place. Though spiritual care assessments and services are the primary responsibility of the spiritual care worker, it is essential for quality patient care to include an inclusive disciplinary approach for patients meeting the qualifications for palliative care services.

Gender

Results from a study on cancer patients in palliative care indicated the need for improvements with specific populations when they receive early palliative care treatments such as female and older patients (Nipp et al., 2016). Currently, older White females with comorbid diagnoses and receiving medical ventilation are most likely to receive palliative care services, whereas African American males are the least likely to receive care (Chalterjee et al., 2018; Engel, 2021; Vallabhajosyula et al., 2019). Further, women are most often more welcoming to the suggestion of receiving palliative care supports however younger men benefit most in early palliative care services. In my study, there were more females (58%) compared to males (42%), which reflects the possibly that more women received palliative care consultations than men. This supports the value in offering palliative care treatments as options for improved quality of life for specific populations within an early time frame. Therefore, there is a need for specific populations to be considered when assessing for palliative care services.

Age

There is also need for person-centered tools and communication especially to clinically uncertain populations of older people 65 and older and at the stage of end of life (Ellis-Smith, 2021). This includes person-centered tools that provide opportunities to identify patients' priorities and needs, supports partnerships among patients and practitioners, and improves positive outcomes of care (Ellis-Smith, 2021). The primary age group in my study were patients who were 65 and younger (58%).

However, it is most common in palliative care studies that older patients are in need for palliative care services. One reason behind this may be due to older patients having multi-morbidities with a lacking in their understanding of their disease prognosis and progression. This population is more vulnerable to the death and dying process when the continuity of care is not included in their care planning process. Due to the difficulties in understanding the medical aspects of care, it affects the total care including the decision of a suitable discharge location for end-of-life care. This study showed that, 71.5% were less likely to be discharged to a nursing home compared to those who did not receive spiritual care services or visits. The greater number of the patients were older than 65 years but were able to approach end of life with increased quality of life care through positive outcomes of care.

Religion

Hopeck, (2020) did a study showing how caregivers view and experience talking with patients and families about spirituality in the context of end-of-life care and needs. She used semi structured interviews of 65 nurses, social workers, chaplains, and patient advocates to determine the effects of the care workers talking to patients about their spirituality at end of life. The result of this study indicated that the caregivers saw a benefit of them talking to patients with an understanding that patients/family members felt supported in their religious /spiritual beliefs and decisions.

Hopeck's study is very compatible with my study. She considers the benefits of a care team, similarly, discussed in my study, to describe care workers effectiveness when they support patients and families to seek direction from within themselves with their guidance. The focus in my study examines the data from spiritual care workers which may include all care team members in the patients' caregiving. This study uses several categories of religions, Catholics, Protestants, and Other religious groups. Compared to non-religious patients, patients of any religion ae over three times more likely to be discharged to a nursing home. This supports the position that patients who receive spiritual care assessments and visits strongly consider their discharge location options based on their spiritual perspectives and discussions with spiritual care workers.

Primary Diagnosis

Engel (2021) states that many cancer patients are not referred by their physician. Patients are often in pain and limit their connections to other services, and/or they may lack the physical resources such as a vehicle or have financial challenges to access palliative care services on their own. In a study by Oguz et al. (2021) 139 patients, majority males, who had advanced terminal cancer were admitted to the emergency department and referred to palliative care services due to inadequate symptom control, dying, lack of psychosocial supports, and symptoms of other comorbidities. This resulted in 69.8% of the patients dying in acute care services before being eligible for discharge care. Results from this study demonstrate the need for better planning and integration into hospital care. Often cancer patients receive a palliative care consultation towards the end of their diagnosis (Sheridan,2021).

In my study, cancer is the primary diagnosis. It is very common of palliative care patients to have a diagnosis of cancer with a potential for uncontrolled pain management and lack resources to access care for themselves. This study shows most of the patients are recommended for palliative care services due to the diagnosis of cancer. The lack of resources available for this population can often affect decision making for patients' desired discharge location and other related issues. However, in this study, patients with heart disease were 3 times more likely to be discharged from an acute care facility to a nursing home. Research shows that a study with cancer patients, predominantly males of color, who received palliative care services in early stages had fewer emergency visits, hospitalizations, and hospital deaths (Engel,2021)

Race

Boyce et al., 2021 did a population based cross sectional survey of 1480 cancer patients with the Texas Cancer Registry and approaching end of life with final options for care being primarily choosing aggressive care and /or enrollment in hospice care. After utilizing an adjusted analysis for black and Hispanic patients, the study determined higher patients of color opposed to palliative care treatments and usage of medication for comfort care. There were 13.3% that indicated that they would prefer to receive medication to prolong their life even if it meant that they would feel physically worst from the medication. Generally, those indicating this preference lived with a family or significant person who they trusted and wanted to continue living.

Patients who were living alone, in rural communities, and age 41-65, compared to those 65 and older, in rural areas stated that they would prefer pharmacological interventions at end-of-life care. Another group of patients opposed any life shortening treatments or palliative drugs. However, a smaller percentage of persons of color aged 65-79 years with the most college education in the study were most likely to accept palliative care interventions. The study indicates that the largest percentage of those in the study choosing aggressive treatments were persons of color (Boyce et al., 2021). Research has shown that those less likely to receive palliative care services are those individuals of color with no insurance or non-managed care insurance and generally located in the rural southern regions of the US (Engel, 2021).

To my knowledge, my study is unique to many studies on spiritual care and end of life issues because it uses a larger number of non-White patients with insurance (98.9%). While this community has its share of poverty -related concerns, these patients had access to good insurance which likely helped them to receive options of care including palliative care treatments. Overall, there was no significance in the differences of discharge location among African American and Asian American patients. However other non-White patients were 34 times more likely to be discharged to a nursing home than Asian patients. Additionally, this could support their means to access their preferred discharge locations.

Limitations of the Study

This study presents the following limitations for consideration. The study was conducted by obtaining secondary data in patients' charts collected from the hospital. Information was gathered from the patients' charts. The assumption was the secondary data and informational contacts with the spiritual care department, allow for consistency and accuracy for greater validity of the variables being studied. However, there was opportunity for the information to be miscommunicated or miscopied on the Excel spreadsheets. Additionally, there was an overrepresentation of non-Whites in this study however the largest population of palliative care patients are White females thus the findings may not be accurate based on the generalization of the population served. The statistical significance was reached in four of the six research questions, with the relationship among patient's gender, and age and palliative discharge locations showing no significance.

Generally, patients are referred to have a spiritual care assessment often based on the other disciplines on the care team. This can present a problem when there is an assumption that the patient needs to have an assessment only based on a religious need instead of a complete assessment for spiritual distress or needs. Studies indicate that healthcare workers often interpret religious and spiritual synonymously. Thus, often referrals may not be needed, or specific needs may not be assessed when this understanding is dominate in healthcare workers (Kang, Chun, Kim & Kim, 2021

Recommendations

Recommendations for Future Research

Secondary quantitative research was used for this study. The primary recommendation for this study would be use a larger data collection with experimental data. A second recommendation would be to use a larger sample population reflecting a variety of patient demographics, and a wider selection of diagnosis for palliative care criteria, would increase the chances of representing more individuals with similar characteristics found in the population (Ponto, 2015). This may be validated by the countywide health priorities being similar in the health assessment. A large majority of the full community included chronic heart failure, and cancer which were significant in this study. Lastly, a recommendation for use of an approach using mixed methods may be beneficial. Some sources of spiritual care research recommend considerations of mixed methods studies for a more comprehensive understanding to those in healthcare settings lacking in clarity on exactly what spiritual care is and how to provide spiritual care services adequately for patients' wellbeing (Kang, et al., 2021). This is particularly true in palliative and hospice care settings where nursing staff tend to be the, along with chaplains, a primary caretaker for patients' spiritual care needs. Using two types of research approaches may capture any misperceptions, and offers a balance of guidelines, usage of its data collection and analysis (Kang, et al., 2021).

Recommendations for Practice

Spiritual care is important for patients especially when they are moving towards end of life. This care is a vital component in acute care settings as part of the patients plan of care also known as the continuum of care. The original philosophy of palliative care includes the benefits of spiritual care in the interdisciplinary care plan and process for patients diagnosed with serious and chronic diagnoses. This has been proven and documented to be the most effective care for the patient, family, community, and healthcare system (Roy, 2021). Identifying this plan of care for all those in need improves positive outcomes and addresses unmet healthcare needs.

The National Palliative Care Registry (2018) reports that only about half of the palliative care teams in the US includes a professional spiritual care worker with only 41% fully staffed with an interdisciplinary team consisting of a physician, nurse, social worker, and a chaplain. While the numbers are growing, away from rotating spiritual care workers to a primary lead spiritual care worker, it is recommended that acute care systems offer fully staffed palliative care teams for meeting the patients emotional and spiritual needs in all palliative care settings

It is typical that patients, and their loved ones as able, prefer to go home with a home-based palliative care program (Roy, 2021). This has increased in the last number of years as community palliative and hospice options are more available to patients (Roy, 2021). It is recommended that acute care facilities provide greater opportunities for home based palliative care in earlier intervention in acute care for palliative care services. Home based palliative care has been found to reduce the risk of dying in hospitals, and to decrease symptom burden and lessen caregiver distress (Davis et al., 2015; Roy, 2021). Further, research shows that patients and caregivers who choose to discharge home are more likely to have a higher level of involvement in the discharge planning process (Roy, 2021).

Finally, it is recommended that the perspectives of health care professionals regarding death and dying issues be considered for acute care patients being admitted to palliative care services. Palliative and hospice care services are generally associated with death and dying processes. Acute care workers are typically looking to this process as a last option because they seek to cure illnesses. Often this thinking prevents teams to avoid early treatment of palliative care, resulting in continued aggressive care which may be unhelpful for patients' wellbeing. Research on qualitative studies shows that nurses often report feeling they are not prepared or supported from management to address emotional and communicative conflicts among patients and caregivers about their treatments or the realities of end-of-life situations (Maffoni et al., 2020). Fitch et al. (2016) report that health care workers as more likely to make good decisions towards patients at end of life when all team members are communicating the same plan of care, skill based educational resources are accessible, and there is opportunity to debrief emotions and thoughts related to death and dying either one on one or in group sessions as workers need. Often services such as these are led by a professional spiritual care worker.

Recommendations for Policy

In a national representative study by Sheridan et al. (2021) they showed that advanced stage cancer patients who received a palliative care consultation within the first several days of their diagnosis, had a 25% decrease per patient cost as compared to those patients experiencing usual care services However palliative care services are still not initially offered to all patients with a terminal illness. Some concerns with delivering high quality and lower costs in healthcare especially among the elderly, are being re-evaluated based on each states decisions on how they want to include palliative care services. The National Academy of State Health Policy (2018) has reviewed the needed policies for states to consider in their determination. These policies are believed to enhance the quality of care for individuals with serious illness: adopting regulations that define, standardize, and support palliative care delivery, implementing palliative care reimbursement policies and quality measures within Medicaid and state employee health programs to promote high-value care, incorporating palliative care into public health and public education strategies, and convening stakeholders to inform policy and programmatic changes.

Research is favorable to palliative care services as it deceases the necessities for additional hospitalizations, reduces cost, and the use of emergency department services who generally do not offer training in treatments for terminally ill patients who qualify for palliative care services. Initially the state is responsible for the allocation of resources to acute hospitals to provide palliative care services. Each state designs their plan of care. Generally, it may be incorporated into hospice care, or other state programs. Based on National Academy for State Health Policy (2018) research, Maryland is the only state that mandates that hospitals with more than 50 beds have a palliative care program. Lobbyist and other activist groups will need to advocate for the benefits and supported research for states to set better mandates to include palliative care services for all who qualify.

Conclusions

While there is still more research needed to demonstrate the practice benefits of palliative care for patients, families, and communities, it is obvious that palliative approaches do support improved outcomes of care. I am happy to present this paper highlighting a larger population of non- White patients utilizing palliative care services. However stronger research for non- White communities needs more representation in addition to the current studies with the majority White population. Palliative care services provide improved patient satisfaction scores, improved quality of life care, reduce anxiousness for patients and caregivers, and offer opportunities for patients make choices for extended periods of their life. When we include the health care workers role and assess the cost benefits, it allows for a more well -rounded attempt to adequately provide an increase in equality in health care services.

References

- Balboni, T. A., Balboni, M., Enzinger, A. C., Gallivan, K., Paulk, M. E., Wright, A., & Prigerson, H. G. (2013). Provision of spiritual support to patients with advanced cancer by religious communities and associations with medical care at the end of life. *Journal of the American Medical Association, Internal Medicine, American Medical Association, 12*(1), 445—452. https://doi.org/10.1001/jaminternmed.2013
- Benzar, E., Hansen, L., Kneitel, A. W., & Fromme, E. K. (2011). Discharge planning for palliative care patients: A qualitative analysis. *Journal of Palliative Care, 14*(1), 65–69. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm2010.0335
- Bhandari, P. (2020). Understanding external validity.

http://www.scribber.com./methodology/external validity

Boyce-Fappiano, D., Liao, K., Miller, C., Peterson, S. K., Elting, L., & Guadagnolo, B.
A. (2021). Preferences for more aggressive end-of-life pharmacologic care among racial minorities in a large population-based cohort of cancer patients. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 62(3),482–491.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2021.02.001

- Bruera, E., & Yennurajalingam, S. (2012). Palliative care in advanced cancer patients:
 How and when. *The Oncologist*, *17*(2), 267–273.
 https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist2011-2019
- Callahan, A. M. (2012). A qualitative exploration of spiritual sensitive hospice care.
 Journal of Social Service Research, 38(2), 144–155. https://doi.org/0/1080/01488
 3762011619425

- Catania, G., Bagnasco, A., Zanini, M., Aleo, G., & Sasso, L. (2015). Spiritual assessment within clinical interventions focused on quality-of-life assessment in palliative care: A secondary analysis of a systematic review. *Religions*, 7(3), 25–32. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/rel7030025
- Chibnall, J. T., Bennett, M. L., Videen, S. D., Duckro, P. N., Miller, D. K. (2004).
 Identifying barriers to psychosocial spiritual care at the end of life: A physician group study. *American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Care, 21*(6), 419–426.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/104990910402100607
- Creary, R. (2011). *Spirituality, fear, of cancer re-occurrence & fear of death* [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertation Publishing.
- Currier, J. M., Kim, S., Sandy, C., & Neimeyer, R. A. (2012). The factor structure of the daily spiritual experiences scale: Exploring the role of theistic and nontheistic approaches at the end of life. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 4(2), 108– 122. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027710
- Daaleman, T. P., Usher, B. M., Williams, S. W., Rawlings, J., & Hanson, L. C. (2008).
 An exploratory study of spiritual care at the end of life. *Annuals Family Medicine* 6(5), 406–411.https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.883
- Daly, D., & Matzel, S. C. (2013). Building a transdisciplinary approach to palliative care in an acute care setting. *Omega: Journal of Death & Dying*, 67(1/2), 43–51. https://doi.org/10.2190/OM.67.1-2.e
- Darren, A., Labuschagne, D., Fosler, L., Mahony, S., Levine, S., & Fitchett, G. (2018). What do chaplains do: The views of palliative care physicians, nurses, and social

workers. *American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Medicine*, *36*(5), 396–401. https://doi.org/10.117711049909118807123

- Davis, T., Morris, J., Drake, M., & Moriarty, M. (2016). The moderation effect of mindfulness on the relationship between adult attachment and wellbeing. *In Personality and Individual Difference*, *96*, 115–121. https://doi.org/10:1016/jpaid2016.02.080
- Delgado-Guay, M. O., Chisholm, G., Williams, J., Frisbee-Hume, S., Ferguson, A. O., & Bruera, E. (2015). Frequency, intensity, and correlates of spiritual pain in advanced cancer patients assessed in a supportive / palliative care clinic. *Palliative and Supportive Care, 1*(4), 1–8.

https://doi.org/10.1017/s147895151500108X

- Donnelly, M., & Martin, D. (2016). History taking and physical assessment in holistic palliative care. *British Journal of Nursing*, 25(22), 1250–1255. https://doi.org/10.2968/bjon.2016.25.22.1250
- Dunn, S. L., Engoren-Arslanian, C., Dekoekkoek, D., Jadack, R., & Scott, L. D. (2015).
 Secondary data analysis as an efficient and effective approach to nursing research. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, *37*(10), 1295–1307.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945915570042

Ellis-Smith, C., Tunnard, I., Dawkins, M., Gao, W., Higginson, I. J., Evans, C. J., on behalf of SPACE. (2021). Managing clinical uncertainty in older people towards the end of life: A systematic review of person-centered tools. *BMC Palliative Care, 20*(1), 1–41. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-021-00845-9 Ellison, C., Bradshaw, M., Flannelly, K.J., & Galek, K.C. (2014). Prayer, attachment to God, and symptoms of anxiety-related disorders among U.S. adults. *Sociology of Religion*, *75(2)*; *208-233*.https://doi.org/ 10.1093/socrel/srt079

Engel, I. J. (2021). Associations between coping styles, death anxiety, and attitudes towards palliative care (Order No. 28498892). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (2585849544). Retrieved from https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/associations-between-copingstyles-death-anxiety/docview/2585849544/se-2?accountid=14872

- Evangelista, C.B., Lopez, M.E.L., Geraldo da Costa, S.F., Batista, P., Batista, J., & Oliveira, A. (2016). Palliative care and spirituality: An integrative literature review. *Rev. Bras. Enfermos, 6(3):1-8.* https:// doi:org/10.1590/0034-7167.20166903248
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A.& Lang, A. (2009). Statistical power analyses using g* power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. Behavior Research s 41(4):1149-1160

Fearon, R., & Roisman, G. (2017). Attachment theory: Program and future directions. *Current Opinion in Psychology Methods*, 15 (1), 131-136 https://doi.org/10.10161/j.psyc 2017.03.002.

Feldman, D.B. (2017). Stepwise psychosocial palliative care: A new approach to the treatment of PTSD at the end of life. *Journal of Social Work in end of life and Palliative Care 13:113-133*.https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15524256.2017.1346543

Fine, R.L. (2001). Depression, anxiety, and delirium in the terminally ill patient. Baylor

University Medical Center, 14(2); 130-133.https://doi.org/

10.1080/08998280.2001.11927747

- Fitch, M. I., Dasgupta, T., & Ford, B. (2016). Achieving Excellence in Palliative Care:
 Perspectives of Health Care Professionals. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 3(1), 66–72. https://doi.org/10.4103/2347-5625.164999
- Flannelly, K.J., Handzo, G.F., Galek, K., Silton, N.R., & Carlson, M. (2012). A national study of chaplaincy services and end of life outcomes. *Bio- Medical Central Palliative Care 11(10):1-16*. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1472-684X-11-10
- Frankfort-Nachimas, C. & Nachimas, D. (2008). Research methods in the social sciences-Seventh Edition. New York, NY: Worth
- Gillilan, R., Qawi, S., Weymiller, A.J., & Puchalski, C. (2017). Spiritual distress and spiritual care in advanced heart failure. 22 (5); 581-591
- Granqvist, P. & Kirkpatrick, L. (2013). Religion, Spirituality, & Attachment. APA Handbook of Psychology, Religion, and Spirituality, (1), Context, Theory and Research, pps.129-155
- Haber, J.R., Jacob, T., & Spangler, D.J.C. (2007). Dimensions of religion/ spirituality and relevance to health research, *International Journal of Psychology of Religion*, 17(4):265-288. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10508610701572770
- Hall, E., Hughes, B., & Handzo, G. (2016). Spiritual Care: What it means, why it matters in health care. *HealthCare Chaplaincy Network, pps.1-8*.
- Hall, S., Edmonds, P., Harding, R., & Higginson, I.J. (2009). Assessing the feasibility, acceptability, and potential effectiveness of dignity therapy for people with

advanced cancer referred to a hospital-based palliative care team: Study protocol. *Bio-Medical Central Palliative Care 8*(5):23-28. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-684X-8-5

- Hennessy, N., Neenan, K., Brady, V., Sullivan, M., Eustace-Cooke, J., & Timmins, F. (2020). End of life in acute hospital setting—a systematic review of families' experience of spiritual care. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 29(7–8), 1041–1052. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.15164</u>
- Hodge, D.R., Sallas-Wright, C.P., & Wolosin, R. J. (2014). Addressing spiritual needs and overall satisfaction with severe provision among older hospitalized inpatients. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, *35(4)*; *374-400*. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0733464813515090
- Holyoke, P., and Stephenson, B (2017). Organization- level principle and practices to support spiritual care at the end of life: A qualitative study. *BMC Palliative Care*, *16 (24)*. https://doi.org/10/1186/s12904-017-01979
- Hopeck, P. (2020). Spiritual Reassurance: Experiences of Care Workers During End of Life. Journal of Communication & Religion, 43(4), 77–91.
- Inbadas, H. (2016). History, culture, and traditions: The silent spaces in the study of spirituality at the end of life. *Religions 7(53): 1-11*. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/rel7050053
- Jankowski, P.J. & Sandage, S. (2011). Meditative prayer, hope, adult attachment, and forgiveness: A proposed model. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 3(2);115-131. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0021601

- Jones, S. (2021). *Clinical practice guideline for palliative care referral* (Order No. 28499176). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Walden University; ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (2536440359). Retrieved from <u>https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/clinical-practice-guideline-palliative-care/docview/2536440359/se-2?accountid=14872</u>
- Kandasamy, A., Chaturvedi, S.K., & Desai, G. (2011). Spirituality, distress, depression, anxiety, and quality of life in patients with advanced cancer. *Indian Journal of Cancer*, 48: 55-59. https://doi.org/ 10.4103/0019-509X.75828
- Kang, K.-A., Chun, J., Kim, H.Y. and Kim, H.-Y. (2021), Hospice palliative care nurses' perceptions of spiritual care and their spiritual care competence: A mixedmethods study. J Clin Nurs, 30: 961-974. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.15638
- Kearney, Fischer, Gronninger (2017). Integrating spiritual care into palliative consultation: A case study in expanded practice. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 56(6): 2308-2316. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10943-017-0419-8
- Kerstenbaum, A., Shields, M., James, J., Hocker, W., Morgan, S., Karve...& S., Rabow,
 M., & Dunn, L. (2017). What impact do chaplains have? A pilot study of spiritual
 AIM for advanced cancer patients in outpatient palliative care. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 54(5):707-714. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/2017.07.027.
- Kirkpatrick, L.A.& Shaver, P.R. (1992). An attachment theoretical approach to romantic love and religious belief. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin 18*(3):266-275. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167292183002.

Kunsmann- Leuitger, Elke, B.A., Loetz, C, Frick, E., Petersen, Y., Muller, J.J. (2017).

Attachment patterns affect spiritual coping in palliative care 20(4):385-391. Journal of Hospice & Palliative Care. https:// doi:org/

10.1097/NJH.000000000000455

- Lin, Cheng, Shih, Chu & Tjung (2012). Discharge Planning. *International Journal of Gerontology*, 6(4), 237-240.https://doi.org/ 10.1016/jijge.2012.05.001
- Loetz, C., Muller, J., Frick, E., Petersen, Y., Hvidt, N.C., & Mauer, C. (2013).
 Attachment theory & spirituality: Two threads converging in palliative care?
 Evidence based complementary and alternative medicine, 18(10):795-808.
 <u>http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1155/2013/740291</u>
- Lowthian, J. (2017). How do we optimize care transitions of frail older people? *Age and Aging*, *46(1):2-4*. <u>https://doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1093/aeing/afw</u> 171.
- Lucchetti, G, & Lucchetti, A. L.G. (2014). Spirituality, religion, & health: Over the last 15 years of field research (1999-2013), 199-215. *International Journal Psychiatry in Medicine*, *48(3)*. https://doi.org/10.2190/PM.483e
- Lutz, S. (2011). Current problems in cancer: The history of hospice & palliative care. Journal of Palliative Care, 35(6), 304-309. https://doi.org/

10.1016/j.currproblcancer.2011.10.004

- Maffoni, M., Argentero, P., Giorgi, I., & Giardini, A. (2020). Underneath the White Coat:
 Risk and Protective Factors for Palliative Care Providers in Their Daily
 Work. (2), 108–114. https://doi.org/10.1097/NJH.00000000000623
- McClain, C.S., Rosenfield, B., & Breitbart, W. (2003). Effect of spiritual wellbeing on end-of-life care. *The Lancet*, *361:1603-1607*. https:// doi:org/10.1016/50140-

6736(03)13310-7

- Meier, E. A., Gallegos, J. V., Thomas, L. P., Depp, C. A., Irwin, S. A., & Jeste, D. V.
 (2016). Defining a Good Death (Successful Dying): Literature Review and a Call for Research and Public Dialogue. *The American journal of geriatric psychiatry: official journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry*, 24(4), 261–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2016.01.135
- Milberg, A., Wahlberg, R., Jacobsson, M., & Friedrichsen, M. (2012). A study applying attachment theory to adult patients and family members experience of palliative home care. *Psycho- Oncology*, *21(8)*, *886-895*. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/pon.1982
- Montross-Thomas, L.P, Irwin, S.A., Meier, Meaning centered psychotherapy: A form of psychotherapy for patients with cancer (2014). *Current Psychiatry Reports* 16(10):488-501. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11920-014-0488-2
- Montross-Thomas, L.P., Irwin, S.A., Meier, E.A., Gallegos, J.V., Golshan, S., Roeland, E.... & McNeal, H., Munson, D., & Rodseth, L. (2015). Enhancing a legacy in palliative care: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial of Dignity Therapy focused on positive outcomes. *Bio Medical Central Palliative Care*, *14*(44):45-48. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12904-015-0041-z
- Moss, E.I., & Dobson, K.S. (2006). Psychology, spirituality, and end of life care: An ethical integration? *Canadian Psychology*, 47(4), 284-299.https://doi.org/ 10.1037/co2006019
- Neuendorf, K., & Davis, M. (2014). Palliative Care. Cleveland Clinic. Updated 20148/31/2016.vhttp://www.clevelanclinicmeded.com/medicalpubs/diseasemanag

ement/hematology-oncology/palliative-medicine/. Accessed August 31,2016.

- Nipp, R. D., Greer, J. A., El-Jawahri, A., Traeger, L., Gallagher, E. R., Park, E. R., Jackson, V. A., Pirl, W. F., & Temel, J. S. (2016). Age and Gender Moderate the Impact of Early Palliative Care in Metastatic Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *The Oncologist, 21*(1), 119–126. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0232
- Oğuz, G., Koçak, N., Şenel, G., & Kadioğullari, N. (2021). Characteristics of advanced cancer patients admitted to the palliative care unit from the emergency department. *Indian Journal of Palliative Care*, *27*(1), 89–94. https://doi.org/10.4103/IJPC.IJPC_126_20
- Patel, H. (2019). Improving early discharge using a team based structure for discharge multidisciplinary rounds. *Professional Care Management*, 24(2):137-146. ISSN: 1932-8087
- Ponto J. (2015). Understanding and Evaluating Survey Research. *Journal of the advanced* practitioner in oncology, 6(2), 168–171
- Puchalski, C.M. (2012). Spirituality in the cancer trajectory. Annuals of Oncology, 23(3): 49-55. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/annonc/mds088
- Puchalski, C.M., Vitilio, R., Hull, S.K., & Reller, N. (2014). Improving the spiritual dimensions of whole person care: Reaching National and International consensus. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 17(6); 642-656. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/jpm2014.9427
- Rego, F. and Nunes, R, (2016). The interface between psychology and spirituality in palliative care. *Journal of Health Psychology, (24):279-287.* https://

- Reuther, B.T. (2014). On our everyday being Heidegger and attachment theory. *Journal* of Theoretical and Philosophical Psychology, 34(2); 101-115.https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0033040
- Rome, R.B., Luminais, H.H., Bourgeois, D.A., & Blais, C. M. (2011). The role of palliative care at the end of life. *The Oschner Journal 11(4):348-352*. PMCID: PMC3241069
- Rosmarin, D.H., Pirutinsky, S., Green, D., & McKay, D. (2013). Attitudes towards spirituality and religion among members of the Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies, *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 44(6); 424-433.https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a00035218
- Roy, L (2021). From hospital to home: Providers' experiences of collaboration when facilitating care transitions across palliative care settings (Order No. 28770656).
 [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
- Rumbold, B.D. (2007). A review of spiritual assessment in healthcare practice, *Medical Journal Australia*, *186(10):560-565*. https://doi.org/ 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2007.4601044x
- Ruth- Sahd, L.A., Hauck, C.B., & Sahd- Brown, K.E. (2018). Collaborating with hospitalized chaplains to meet the spiritual needs of critical care patients.:
 Dimensions of critical care. *Nursing*, *37*(1): 18-25.
 https://doi:10.1097/DCC.000000000279

- Salkind, N. J. (2010). *Encyclopedia of research design* (Vols. 1-0). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc. doi: 10.4135/9781412961288
- Sanders, J. J., Johnson, K. S., Cannady, K., Paladino, J., Ford, D. W., Block, S. D., & Sterba, K. R. (2019). From barriers to assets: Rethinking factors impacting advance care planning for African Americans. *Palliative & Supportive Care, 17*(3), 306-313. https://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S147895151800038X
- Seybold, K.S. & Hill, P.C. (2001). The role of religion and spirituality in mental & physical health. *Current Directions in Psychological Sciences*, 10(1): 21-24. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00126
- Sharma, R.K., Astrow, A.B., Texeira, K., & Sulmasy, D.P. (2012). Spiritual needs assessment for patients: Development and validation of a comprehensive instrument to assess unmet spiritual needs. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management, Vol. 44 (1)44-51*. https:// doi:org/

10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2011.07.008

Sheridan, P. E., LeBrett, W. G., Triplett, D. P., Roeland, E. J., Bruggeman, A. R., Yeung,
H. N., & Murphy, J. D. (2021). Cost Savings Associated With Palliative Care
Among Older Adults With Advanced Cancer. *American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Medicine, 38*(10), 1250–1257

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909120986800

Shinell, M.C., Wesley, E., Wilson, J.E., & Kenckar, M. (2018). Facility placement as a barrier to hospice for older adult patients discharged from a palliative care unit. *American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Medicine*, 36(2); 93-96. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/10499909118791149.

- Siegert, R.J., Gao, W., Walkey, F.H., & Higginson, I.J. (2010). Psychological wellbeing and quality of care: A factor examination of the palliative care outcome scale. *Journal of Pain Management 40(1); 67-72.* https:// doi:org/ 10.1016/jpainsymman.2009.11.326
- Sun, V., Kim, J.Y., Irish, T.L., Borneman, T., Sidhu, R.K., Klein, L.... & Ferrell, B. (2016). Palliative care and spiritual wellbeing in lung cancer patients and family caregivers. *Psycho-Oncology*, 25(12); 1448-1455.https://doi.org/ 10.1002/pon.3987
- Van Voorhis, CRW & Morgan, B.L. (2007). Understanding power and rules of thumb for determining sample size. Retrieved from <u>www.researchgate.com</u>.https://doi.org/ 10.20982/tqmp.03.2 p043
- Vallurupalli, M., Lauderdale, K., Balboni, M.J., Phelps, A.C., Block, S., Ng, A.K.... & Kachnic, L.A., VanderWheele, T.J., Balboni, T.A. (2012). The role of spirituality and religious coping in the quality of life of patients with advanced cancer receiving palliative radiation therapy. *Journal of Supportive Oncology*, *10(2)*; 81-87. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.suponc.2011.09.003
- Virdun, C., Luckett, T., Davidson, P.M., & Phillips, J. (2015). Dying in the hospital setting: A systematic review of quantitative studies identifying the elements of end-of-life care that patients and their families rank as being most important. *Palliative Medicine, 29*(9); 774-796. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/026916315583032.

Walsh, D., Aktas, A., Hullihen, B., & Induru, R. (2011). What is palliative medicine?

motivations and skills. American Journal 28(1):52-58.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909110393724.

Walden University center for research quality. (2018) Research resources: Research design and analysis: Quantitative research design and analysis: Overview of quantitative research methods (Transcript).

http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/research center/resources/design